

NOTICE OF INTENT

**Student Financial Assistance Commission
Office of Student Financial Assistance
Scholarship/Grant Programs
TOPS Continuation Requirements
(LAC 28:IV.301, 501, 503, 505, 507, 701, 703, 705, 801, 803, 1903, 2103)**

The Louisiana Student Financial Assistance Commission (LASFAC) announces its intention to amend its Scholarship/Grant rules (LSA-R.S. 17:3021-3025, LSA-R.S. 3041.10-3041.15, LSA-R.S. 17:3042.1, LSA-R.S. 17:3048.1, LSA-R.S. 17:3048.5 and LSA-R.S. 17:3048.6).

This rulemaking amends the Scholarship and Grant rules provide that students with the TOPS Opportunity, Performance and Honors Awards must meet the same continuation requirement if they are enrolled in academic or technical programs. Beginning with the 2015-16 academic year, all postsecondary courses attempted and grades earned will be used to determine whether these students have met the requirement to earn at least 24 hours each year and to maintain the minimum required cumulative grade point average. (SG15158NI)

Title 28 EDUCATION

Part IV. Student Financial Assistance—Higher Education Scholarship and Grant Programs

Chapter 3. Definitions

§301. Definitions

A. Words and terms not otherwise defined in this Chapter shall have the meanings ascribed to such words and terms in this Section. Where the masculine is used in these rules, it includes the feminine, and vice versa; where the singular is used, it includes the plural, and vice versa.

* * *

Academic Year (College)—

Begins with the fall term of the award year and concludes immediately before the next fall term commences unless specifically provided otherwise in these rules. All intersessions and summer sessions are included.

* * *

Academic Year (TOPS College)—

For students who are eligible for a TOPS Tech, Opportunity, Performance or Honors Award:

a. through the 2007-2008 academic year, the two- and four-year college and university academic year begins with the fall term of the award year, includes the winter term, if applicable, and concludes with the completion of the spring term of the award year. Intersessions ending during the academic year are included in the academic year. The two- and four-year college and university academic year does not include summer sessions or intersessions that do not end during the academic year;

b. during the 2008-2009 academic year, the academic year begins with the fall term of the award year, includes the winter term, if applicable, and concludes with the completion of the intersession immediately following the spring term of the award year. Intersessions ending during the academic year, including the intersession immediately following the spring term, are included in the academic year. The two- and four-year college and university academic year does not include summer sessions or other intersessions;

c. during the 2009-2010 and 2010-2011 academic years, the academic year begins with the fall term of the award year and concludes with the completion of the spring term of the award year or the intersession immediately following the spring term if such intersession ends no later than June 15, whichever is later. Any intersession or term that begins and ends during the academic year is included. The two- and four-year college and university academic year does not include other intersessions or summer sessions. See the definition of *intersession* below;

d. beginning with the 2011-2012 academic year and thereafter, the academic year begins with the fall term of the award year and concludes immediately before the next fall term commences. All intersessions and summer sessions are included.

* * *

~~*Program Year (Non Academic Program)—the schedule of semesters or terms during a year leading to a vocational or technical education certificate or diploma or a non-academic undergraduate degree for such programs offered by eligible colleges and universities, beginning with the fall semester or term, including the winter term, if applicable, and concluding with the spring semester or term or the equivalent schedule at an institution which operates on units other than semesters or terms. Enrollment in a summer term, semester or session is not required to maintain eligibility for an award.*~~

* * *

Average Award Amount (TOPS-Tech)—is applicable to those students awarded the TOPS-Tech and TOPS Opportunity, Performance, and Honors Awards who attend a regionally accredited independent college or university in Louisiana that is a member of the Louisiana Association of Independent Colleges and Universities or who attend an eligible cosmetology or proprietary school and are enrolled in a vocational, technical education certificate or diploma program or non-academic undergraduate degree program, and is determined by dividing the total dollar value of awards, which are made to students enrolled in the same types of programs in the prior ~~academic program year (non-academic program)~~TOPS) at eligible public colleges and universities that do not offer academic degrees at the baccalaureate level, by the total number of students that received the awards. ~~To ensure that the average award amount (TOPS Tech) is not reduced for students during program year (non-academic program) 2006-2007 because of the adverse affects of Hurricanes Katrina and Rita on student enrollment, the average award amount (TOPS Tech) for program year (non-academic program) 2006-2007 shall be the same as calculated for program year (non-academic program) 2005-2006.~~

* * *

Award Year—the academic year (~~college~~TOPS)—~~or program year (non-academic program)~~ during which a TOPS Award is paid.

* * *

Eligible Colleges or Universities—Louisiana public colleges or universities and regionally accredited independent colleges or universities in the state that are members of the Louisiana Association of Independent Colleges and Universities; for recipients of the TOPS Tech Award only, beginning with the 2009-2010 Academic Year (~~TOPS~~SeeHege), and for recipients of the TOPS Tech, Opportunity, Performance and Honors Award, beginning with the 2010-2011 academic year (~~TOPS~~SeeHege), any school that has a valid and current certificate of registration issued by the State Board of Cosmetology in accordance with law and that is accredited by an accrediting organization recognized by the United States Department of Education and any proprietary school that has a valid and current license issued by the Board of Regents in accordance with law and that is accredited by an accrediting organization recognized by the United States Department of Education.

Returning Student—a student who graduated from high school beginning with academic year (high school):

a. 2001-2002, and met all the academic requirements for a TOPS Award, but who enrolled for the first time as a full-time student no later than the deadline established in §703.A.4 in an out-of-state postsecondary institution accredited by a regional accrediting organization recognized by the United States Department of Education

and, thereafter, returns to Louisiana and enrolls as a full-time student in an eligible college or university; or

b. who was determined eligible for a TOPS opportunity, performance or honors award and enrolled for the first time as a full-time student no later than the deadline established in §703.A.4 in an eligible college or university in Louisiana, subsequently enrolled in an out-of-state postsecondary institution accredited by a regional accrediting organization recognized by the United States Department of Education and, thereafter, returns to Louisiana and enrolls as a full-time student in an eligible college or university during or after the 2009-2010 academic year (~~college~~ TOPS).

* * *

TOPS Cumulative Grade Point Average (Academic)—~~through the 2014-15 Academic Year (TOPS)~~, the grade point average calculated by LOSFA on all academic courses taken by a student at postsecondary institutions to determine whether the student has maintained steady academic progress and whether the student has met the minimum grade point average required to maintain eligibility for continuation of a TOPS Award. The cumulative grade point average shall be calculated on a 4.00 scale and must include all academic courses from all postsecondary institutions attended for which the student has been awarded a grade. Academic courses taken at a college or university while the student was still in high school and at postsecondary institutions other than the institution at which the student is currently enrolled must be included in the calculation. Grades earned in non-academic courses and courses taken on a pass/fail basis are not considered in the calculation of the cumulative grade point average.

TOPS Cumulative Grade Point Average (Non-Academic)—~~through the 2014-15 Academic Year (TOPS)~~, the grade point average calculated by LOSFA on all non-academic courses taken by a student at postsecondary institutions to determine whether the student has maintained steady academic progress and whether the student has met the minimum grade point average required to maintain eligibility for continuation of a TOPS Award. The cumulative grade point average shall be calculated on a 4.00 scale and must include all non-academic courses from all postsecondary institutions attended for which the student has been awarded a grade. Non-academic courses taken at a college or university while the student was still in high school and at postsecondary institutions other than the institution at which the student is currently enrolled must be included in the calculation. Grades earned in academic courses and courses taken on a pass/fail basis are not considered in the calculation of the cumulative grade point average.

TOPS Cumulative Grade Point Average (Opportunity, Performance, Honors)—beginning with the 2015-16 Academic Year (TOPS), the grade point average for students with the TOPS Opportunity, Performance and Honors Awards shall be calculated by LOSFA on all courses taken by a student at postsecondary institutions.

These courses shall include those taken at postsecondary institutions while the student was still in high school and at postsecondary institutions other than the institution at which the student is currently enrolled.

The average for these courses shall be calculated on a 4.00 scale and shall include all courses for which the student has been awarded a grade. The average shall not include courses graded on a pass/fail basis.

This average will be used to determine whether the student has maintained steady academic progress and whether the student has met the minimum grade point average required to maintain eligibility for continuation of a TOPS Opportunity, Performance or Honors Award.

TOPS Cumulative Grade Point Average (TOPS Tech)—beginning with the 2015-2016 Academic Year (TOPS) the grade point average for a student with the TOPS Tech award shall be calculated by LOSFA on all courses taken by a student at postsecondary institutions while enrolled in a skill, occupational or technical program.

These courses shall include all those taken in skill, occupational or technical programs at postsecondary institutions while the student was still in high school and at postsecondary institutions other than the institution at which the student is currently enrolled.

The average for these courses shall be calculated on a 4.00 scale and shall include all courses while enrolled in a skill, occupational or technical program for which the student has been awarded a grade. The average shall not include courses graded on a pass/fail basis.

This average will be used to determine whether the student has maintained steady academic progress and whether the student has met the minimum grade point average required to maintain eligibility for continuation of a TOPS Tech Award.

* * *

AUTHORITY NOTE: Promulgated in accordance with R.S. 17:3021-3036, R.S. 17:3042.1 and R.S. 17:3048.1.

HISTORICAL NOTE: Promulgated by the Student Financial Assistance Commission, Office of Student Financial Assistance, LR 22:338 (May 1996), repromulgated LR 24:632 (April 1998), amended LR 24:1898 (October 1998), LR 24:2237 (December 1998), LR 25:256 (February 1999), LR 25:654 (April 1999), LR 25:1458 and 1460 (August 1999), LR 25:1794 (October 1999), LR 26:65 (January 2000), LR 26:688 (April 2000), LR 26:1262 (June 2000), LR 26:1601 (August 2000), LR 26:1993, 1999 (September 2000), LR 26:2268 (October 2000), LR 26:2752 (December 2000), LR 27:36 (January 2001), LR 27:284 (March 2001), LR 27:1219 (August 2001), LR 27:1840 (November 2001), LR 27:1875 (November 2001), LR 28:45 (January 2002), LR 28:446 (March 2002), LR 28:772 (April 2002), LR 28:2330, 2331 (November 2002), LR 29:555 (April 2003), LR 29:879 (June 2003), LR 30:1159 (June 2004), LR 30:2015 (September 2004), LR 31:36 (January 2005), LR 31:3112 (December 2005), LR 33:86 (January 2007), LR 33:439 (March 2007), LR 33:1339 (July 2007), LR 33:2612 (December 2007), LR 34:234 (February 2008), LR 34:1388 (July 2008), LR 34:1884 (September 2008), LR 35:228 (February 2009), LR 35:1489 (August 2009), LR 35:1490 (August 2009), LR 36:311 (February 2010), LR 36:490 (March 2010), LR 36:2854 (December 2010), LR 37:1561 (June 2011), LR 37:1562

(June 2011), LR 38:1953 (August 2012), LR 38:3156 (December 2012), LR 39:308 (February 2013), LR 40:53 (January 2014), LR 40:281 (February 2014).

Chapter 5. Applications, Federal Grant Aid and ACT Test

§501. Initial Application

A. Initial Application for High School Graduates of 2002-2003 or Earlier

1. Except as provided in Subparagraph A.2.b below, all new applicants for Louisiana Scholarship and Grant Programs must apply for federal aid by completing the Free Application for Federal Student Aid (FAFSA) for the academic year following the year the student graduated from high school. For example, if the student will graduate from high school in school year 2002-2003, submit the 2003-2004 version of the FAFSA.

2. All new applicants for TOPS Opportunity, Performance, Honors and TOPS-Tech Awards who graduate from high school during the 2001-2002 or 2002-2003 academic years (high school) must apply for federal aid by completing the Free Application for Federal Student Aid (FAFSA) for the academic year (~~TOPS~~~~eeHege~~) the applicant will be a first-time, full-time student. For example, if the applicant will graduate from high school in the 2002-2003 academic year (high school) and does not intend to enroll as a first-time, full-time student until the fall semester of 2004, he must submit the 2004-2005 version of the FAFSA.

A.2.a.- C.2. ...

AUTHORITY NOTE: Promulgated in accordance with R.S. 17:3021-3025, R.S. 17:3042.1 and R.S. 17:3048.1.

HISTORICAL NOTE: Promulgated by the Student Financial Assistance Commission, Office of Student Financial Assistance, LR 22:338 (May 1996), repromulgated LR 24:635 (April 1998), LR 24:1900 (October 1998), amended LR 26:1994 (September 2000), repromulgated LR 27:1846 (November 2001), amended LR 29:554 (April 2003), LR 30:2015 (September 2004), LR 31:36 (January 2005), LR 31:1060 (May 2005).

§503. Application Deadlines for High School Graduates of 2003 and Earlier

A.1. – B.1.a. ...

b. For applicants graduating from high school during or after the 2001-2002 academic year (high school), in order to receive the full benefits of a TOPS Award as provided in §701.E, the final deadline for receipt of a student's initial FAFSA application is the July 1 immediately preceding the academic year (~~TOPS~~~~eeHege~~) in which the applicant will be a first-time, full-time student.

B.1.c. – E. ...

AUTHORITY NOTE: Promulgated in accordance with R.S. 17:3021-3036, R.S. 17:3042.1 and R.S. 17:3048.1.

HISTORICAL NOTE: Promulgated by the Student Financial Assistance Commission, Office of Student Financial Assistance, LR 22:338 (May 1996), repromulgated LR 24:635 (April 1998), LR 24:1900 (October 1998), amended LR 25:655 (April 1999), LR 25:2396 (December 1999), LR 26:1994 (September 2000),

repromulgated LR 27:1847 (November 2001), amended LR 28:447 (March 2002), LR 28:1760 (August 2002), LR 29:554 (April 2003), LR 30:1471 (July 2004), LR 30:2016 (September 2004), LR 33:440 (March 2007).

§505. Application Deadlines for High School Graduates and Home Study Completers of 2004 and Later and Eligible Non-Graduates

A.1. – A.3. ...

B. Deadline for Payment for the Academic Year (TOPS~~College~~) Immediately Following High School Graduation

1. Beginning with the 2007-2008 academic year (TOPS~~College~~), to be determined eligible for payment of TOPS awards for the academic year (TOPS~~College~~) immediately following the academic year (high school) of high school graduation, students must submit the initial FAFSA or on-line application so that it is received no later than the July 1 immediately following the academic year (high school) of graduation.

2. Beginning with the 2007-2008 academic year (TOPS~~College~~), students will be eligible to receive the full benefits of a TOPS award as provided in §701.E beginning with the academic year (TOPS~~College~~) immediately after the student's one year anniversary of high school graduation if their initial FAFSA or on-line application is received after the July 1 immediately following the academic year (high school) of high school graduation and no later than the final deadline set forth in Subsection C, below, and if the student was enrolled during the preceding academic year (TOPS~~College~~), the student has met the requirements for continuing eligibility.

3.a. Beginning with the 2010-2011 academic year (TOPS~~College~~), students whose initial FAFSA or on-line application is received on or before July 1 immediately following the one year anniversary of high school graduation will receive payment of their TOPS award as provided in §701.E beginning with the first semester, quarter or term the student enrolls for the first time as a full time student in an eligible college or university; provided that no payment of a TOPS award shall be made until the initial FAFSA or on-line application has been received and the applicant has been determined eligible for a TOPS award.

B.3.b. – B.4.b. ...

C. Final Deadline for Full TOPS Award

1.a. Except as provided below, through the 2006-2007 academic year (TOPS~~College~~), in order to receive the full benefits of a TOPS award as provided in §701.E, the final deadline for receipt of a student's initial FAFSA or the on-line application is July 1 immediately prior to the academic year (TOPS~~College~~) he first enrolls as a first-time freshman in an eligible college or university.

b. Beginning with the 2007-2008 academic year (TOPS~~College~~), in order receive the full benefits of a TOPS award as provided in §701.E, the final deadline for receipt of a student's initial FAFSA or on-line application is July 1 immediately prior to the academic year (TOPS~~College~~)

immediately following the one year anniversary of high school graduation.

c.i. Students who graduated from high school during the 2003-2004 academic year (high school) and enrolled as a first-time freshman in an eligible college or university during the 2004-2005 academic year (TOPS~~College~~) are eligible to receive the full benefits of a TOPS award as provided in §701.E beginning:

(a). with the 2004-2005 academic year (TOPS~~College~~) if their initial FAFSA or on-line application was received no later than October 29, 2004;

(b). with the 2005-2006 academic year (TOPS~~College~~) if their initial FAFSA or on-line application was received after October 29, 2004, and no later than July 1, 2005, and, if the student enrolled as a full time student during the 2004-2005 academic year (TOPS~~College~~), the student has met the requirements for continuing eligibility.

ii. Students who graduated from high school during the 2003-2004 academic year (high school) and enrolled as a first-time freshman in an eligible college or university beginning the fall semester of 2005 are eligible to receive the full benefits of a TOPS award as provided in §701.E beginning the fall semester of 2005 if their initial FAFSA or on-line application was received no later than July 1, 2005.

iii. Students who graduated from high school during the 2003-2004 academic year (high school) and enrolled as a first-time freshman in an eligible college or university during either the 2004-2005 academic year (TOPS~~College~~) or fall semester of 2005 are eligible for a reduced TOPS award (See Subsection 505.D, below.) beginning with the fall semester of 2005, if their initial FAFSA or on-line application was received after July 1, 2005 and no later than October 31, 2005, and, if the student enrolled as a full time student during the 2004-2005 academic year (TOPS~~College~~), the student has met the requirements for continuing eligibility.

d.i. Students who graduated from high school during the 2004-2005 academic year (high school) and enrolled as a first-time freshman in an eligible college or university during the 2005-2006 academic year (TOPS~~College~~) will be eligible to receive the full benefits of a TOPS award as provided in §701.E beginning:

(a). with the 2005-2006 academic year (TOPS~~College~~) if their initial FAFSA or on-line application is received no later than October 31, 2005;

(b). with the 2006-2007 academic year (TOPS~~College~~) if their initial FAFSA or on-line application is received after October 31, 2005, and no later than July 1, 2006, and, if the student enrolled as a full time student during the 2005-2006 academic year (TOPS~~College~~), the student met the requirements for continuing eligibility.

ii. Students who graduated from high school during the 2004-2005 academic year (high school) and enrolled as a first-time freshman in an eligible college or

university beginning the fall semester of 2006 are eligible to receive the full benefits of a TOPS award as provided in §701.E beginning the fall semester of 2006 if their initial FAFSA or on-line application was received no later than July 1, 2006.

iii. Students who graduated from high school during the 2004-2005 academic year (high school) and enrolled as a first-time freshman in an eligible college or university during either the 2005-2006 academic year (~~TOPS~~) or fall semester of 2006 are eligible for a reduced TOPS award (See Subsection 505.D, below.) beginning with the fall semester of 2006, if their initial FAFSA or on-line application was received after July 1, 2006, and no later than October 30, 2006, and, if the student enrolled as a full time student during the 2005-2006 academic year (~~college~~), the student met the requirements for continuing eligibility.

e.i. Students who graduate from high school during the 2005-2006 academic year (high school) and enroll as a first-time freshman in an eligible college or university during the 2006-2007 academic year (~~college~~) will be eligible to receive the full benefits of a TOPS award as provided in §701.E beginning:

(a). with the 2006-2007 academic year (~~college~~) if their initial FAFSA or on-line application is received no later than October 30, 2006;

(b). with the 2007-2008 academic year (~~college~~) if their initial FAFSA or on-line application is received after October 30, 2006, and no later than July 1, 2007, and, if the student enrolled as a full time student during the 2006-2007 academic year (~~college~~), the student met the requirements for continuing eligibility.

ii. Students who graduated from high school during the 2005-2006 academic year (high school) and enrolled as a first-time freshman in an eligible college or university beginning the fall semester of 2007 are eligible to receive the full benefits of a TOPS award as provided in §701.E beginning the fall semester of 2007 if their initial FAFSA or on-line application was received no later than July 1, 2007.

iii. Students who graduate from high school during the 2005-2006 academic year (high school) and enroll as a first-time freshman in an eligible college or university during either the 2006-2007 academic year (~~college~~) or the fall semester of 2007 are eligible for a reduced TOPS award (See Subsection 505.D, below.) beginning with the fall semester of 2007, if their initial FAFSA or on-line application is received after July 1, 2007, and no later than October 29, 2007, and, if the student enrolled as a full time student during the 2006-2007 academic year (~~college~~), the student met the requirements for continuing eligibility.

2. Returning Students

a. Beginning with the 2002-2003 through the 2004-2005 academic year (~~college~~), in order for a returning student to receive the full benefits of a TOPS

award as provided in §701.E, the final deadline for receipt of a student's initial FAFSA or the on-line application is May 1 of the academic year (~~college~~) he first enrolls as a full-time student in an eligible college or university.

b. Beginning with the 2005-2006 academic year (~~college~~), in order for a returning student to receive the full benefits of a TOPS award as provided in §701.E, the final deadline for receipt of the student's initial FAFSA or the on-line application is the July 1 immediately following the academic year (~~college~~) he first enrolls as a full-time student in an eligible college or university.

C.3. – E. ...

F. Renewal FAFSA

1.a. Through the 2004-2005 academic year (~~college~~), in order to remain eligible for TOPS awards, a student who is eligible for federal grant aid must file a renewal FAFSA so that it is received by May 1 of each academic year (~~college~~) after initial eligibility is established.

b. Beginning with the 2005-2006 academic year (~~college~~), in order to remain eligible for TOPS awards, a student who is eligible for federal grant aid must file a renewal FAFSA so that it is received by the July 1 immediately preceding each academic year (~~college~~) after initial eligibility is established.

2. Students who can demonstrate that they do not qualify for federal grant aid because of their family's financial condition are not required to submit a renewal FAFSA.

3.a. In the event of a budgetary shortfall, applicants who do not file a renewal FAFSA or who do not complete all sections of the FAFSA will be the first denied a TOPS award.

b. Students who can demonstrate that they do not qualify for federal grant aid because of their family's financial condition and do not want to be the first denied a TOPS award must file a renewal FAFSA so that it is received by the July 1 immediately preceding each academic year (~~college~~) after initial eligibility is established.

4. All recipients of Louisiana Scholarship and Grant Programs other than TOPS and the Rockefeller Wildlife Scholarship Program must submit a renewal FAFSA for each academic year (~~college~~) the student enrolls.

G. If a prescribed deadline date falls on a weekend or holiday, it will automatically be extended to the next business day.

AUTHORITY NOTE: Promulgated in accordance with R.S. 17:3021-3036, R.S. 17:3042.1 and R.S. 17:3048.1.

HISTORICAL NOTE: Promulgated by the Student Financial Assistance Commission, Office of Student Financial Assistance, LR 22:338 (May 1996), repromulgated LR 24:635 (April 1998), amended LR 24:1901 (October 1998), repromulgated LR 27:1847 (November 2001), amended LR 30:2017 (September 2004), LR 31:37 (January 2005), LR 32:2238 (December 2006), LR 33:83

(January 2007), LR 33:2357 (November 2007), LR 34:235 (February 2008), LR 37:588 (February 2011).

§507. Final Deadline for Submitting Documentation of Eligibility

A. LASFAC will continue to process eligibility for both new and renewal applicants during each award year until July 1 after the spring term of that award year.

B.1. Through the 2004-2005 academic year ~~(college)(TOPS)~~, all documentation and certifications necessary to establish student eligibility including, but not limited to, high school and/or college transcripts and certifications, copies of student aid reports, applicant confirmation forms, promissory notes, ACT and/or SAT scores, residency affidavits, proof of citizenship or permanent residency status and other documents that may be utilized in determining eligibility, must be received by LASFAC no later than May 1 of the award year. For example, to receive an award for the 2004-2005 award year, LASFAC must have in its possession all documents relevant to establishing eligibility by May 1, 2005.

2. Beginning with the 2005-2006 academic year ~~(college)(TOPS)~~ through the 2010-11 academic year ~~(college)(TOPS)~~, all documentation and certifications necessary to establish student initial eligibility including, but not limited to, high school and/or college transcripts and certifications, copies of student aid reports, applicant confirmation forms, promissory notes, ACT and/or SAT scores, residency affidavits, proof of citizenship or permanent residency status and other documents that may be utilized in determining eligibility, must be received by LASFAC no later than July 1 immediately following the academic year ~~(college)(TOPS)~~ the student is first eligible for payment of a TOPS award. For example, if a student's initial FAFSA is received no later than July 1, 2007, for that student to receive an award for the 2007-2008 academic year ~~(college)(TOPS)~~, LASFAC must have in its possession all documents relevant to establishing eligibility by July 1, 2008.

3. Beginning with the 2011-12 academic year ~~(college)(TOPS)~~, all documentation and certifications necessary to establish student initial eligibility including, but not limited to, high school and/or college transcripts and certifications, copies of student aid reports, applicant confirmation forms, promissory notes, ACT and/or SAT scores, residency affidavits, proof of citizenship or permanent residency status and other documents that may be utilized in determining eligibility, must be received by LASFAC no later than January 15 immediately following the final deadline for receipt of the student's FAFSA or on-line application. For example, if a student's graduates from high school in May 2011, the final deadline for receipt of the student's FAFSA or on-line application is July 1, 2012, and the deadline for receipt of all documents relevant to establishing eligibility is January 15, 2013.

C. Returning Students

1. Returning students, who graduated high school during the 2001-2002 academic years (high school) and who

enroll in an eligible college or university in the spring semester 2003, must submit documentation that establishes TOPS eligibility no later than May 1, 2004.

2. Returning students, who enroll in an eligible college or university in the fall semester of 2003 through the spring semester of 2005, must submit documentation that establishes TOPS eligibility no later than May 1 of the academic year ~~(college)(TOPS)~~ the student enrolls in an eligible college or university. For example, a student who seeks to enroll in an eligible college or university in the fall semester of 2003 must submit documentation that establishes TOPS eligibility no later than May 1, 2004.

3.a. Returning students, who enroll in an eligible college or university in academic year ~~(college)(TOPS)~~ 2005-2006 or academic year ~~(college)(TOPS)~~ 2006-2007, must submit an application to return from an out-of-state college no later than July 1 immediately following the academic year ~~(college)(TOPS)~~ the student enrolls as a full-time student in an eligible college or university and must submit any supporting documentation required by the application no later than April 15 following the July 1 deadline.

b.i. To receive the full benefits of a TOPS award as provided in §701.E, returning students, who enroll in an eligible college or university in the fall semester of 2007 or later, must submit an application to return from an out-of-state college no later than July 1 immediately following the academic year ~~(college)(TOPS)~~ the student enrolls as a full-time student in an eligible college or university and must submit any supporting documentation required by the application no later than January 15 following the July 1 deadline.

C.3.b.ii. – C.3.c.vii. ...

4.a. Beginning with the 2007-2008 academic year ~~(college)(TOPS)~~, all documentation and certifications necessary to establish a returning student's initial eligibility including, but not limited to, high school and/or college transcripts and certifications, copies of student aid reports, ACT and/or SAT scores, residency affidavits, proof of citizenship or permanent residency status and other documents that may be utilized in determining eligibility, must be received by LASFAC no later than January 15 immediately following the deadline for receipt of the student's FAFSA or on-line application.

C.4.b.i.- C.4.b.iii. ...

D.1.A student who successfully completed an undergraduate degree prior to or during the 2001-2002 academic year ~~(college)(TOPS)~~ and wishes to receive his remaining award eligibility to attend a postgraduate school must provide the documentation and certifications required to establish student eligibility no later than May 1, 2004.

2. A student who successfully completes an undergraduate degree during the 2002-2003 through the 2004-2005 academic year ~~(college)(TOPS)~~ and wishes to receive his remaining award eligibility to attend a postgraduate school must provide the documentation and

certifications required to establish student eligibility no later than May 1 of the academic year ~~(college)(TOPS)~~ the student seeks to receive his remaining award eligibility. For example, to receive the remaining award for the 2003-2004 academic year ~~(college)(TOPS)~~, the student must submit the required documents no later than May 1, 2004.

3. A student who successfully completes an undergraduate degree during the 2005-2006 academic year ~~(college)(TOPS)~~ or later and wishes to receive his remaining award eligibility to attend a postgraduate school must provide the documentation and certifications required to establish student eligibility no later than July 1 immediately following the academic year ~~(college)(TOPS)~~ the student seeks to receive his remaining award eligibility. For example, to receive the remaining award for the 2006-2007 academic year ~~(college)(TOPS)~~, the student must submit the required documents no later than July 1, 2007.

E. The reduction of the student's period of eligibility for this award under §507.C above shall not be cumulative with any reduction under §505.D or §509.C.

AUTHORITY NOTE: Promulgated in accordance with R.S. 17:3021-3036, R.S. 17:3042.1 and R.S. 17:3048.1.

HISTORICAL NOTE: Promulgated by the Student Financial Assistance Commission, Office of Student Financial Assistance, LR 22:338 (May 1996), repromulgated LR 24:635 (April 1998), amended LR 24:1901 (October 1998), repromulgated LR 27:1847 (November 2001), amended LR 28:447 (March 2002), LR 30:1161 (June 2004), LR 30:1471 (July 2004), LR 30:2019 (September 2004), LR 32:2238 (December 2006), LR 33:2357 (November 2007), LR 34:1389 (July 2008), LR 34:1884 (September 2008), LR 36:312 (February 2010), LR 38:3157 (December 2012).

Chapter 7. Taylor Opportunity Program for Students (TOPS) Opportunity, Performance, and Honors Awards

§701. General Provisions

A. - E.1.b. ...

2.a. The TOPS Performance Award provides a \$400 annual stipend, prorated by two semesters, three quarters, or equivalent units in each academic year ~~(college)(TOPS)~~, in addition to an amount equal to tuition for full-time attendance at an eligible college or university, for a period not to exceed eight semesters, including qualified summer sessions, 12 quarters, including qualified summer sessions, or an equivalent number of units in an eligible institution which operates on a schedule based on units other than semesters or quarters, except as provided by R.S. 17:3048.1.H, or LAC 28:IV.503.D, 509.C, or 701.E.2.b. The stipend will be paid for each qualified summer session, semester, quarter, term, or equivalent unit for which tuition is paid. Attending a qualified summer session for which tuition is paid will count toward the eight semester limit for TOPS.

b. The semester or term count for a student shall not be increased for any semester or term a student is unable to

complete because of orders to active duty in the United States Armed Forces or National Guard, whether or not a full refund for the TOPS payment for that semester or term is received by LOSFA, provided that any amount of a stipend paid and not refunded shall be counted toward the total stipends allowed by law.

3.a. The TOPS Honors Award provides an \$800 annual stipend, prorated by two semesters, three quarters, or equivalent units in each academic year ~~(college)(TOPS) and each program year (non-academic program)~~, in addition to an amount equal to tuition for full-time attendance at an eligible college or university, for a period not to exceed eight semesters, including qualified summer sessions, 12 quarters, including qualified summer sessions, or an equivalent number of units in an eligible institution which operates on a schedule based on units other than semesters or quarters, except as provided by R.S. 17:3048.1.H, or LAC 28:IV.503.D, 509.C or 701.E.3.b. The stipend will be paid for each qualified summer session, semester, quarter, term, or equivalent unit for which tuition is paid. Attending a qualified summer session for which tuition is paid will count toward the eight semester limit for TOPS.

E.3.b. – E.5.a. ...

b. in a program for a vocational or technical education certificate or diploma or a non-academic undergraduate degree receive an amount equal to the *average award amount (TOPS-Tech)*, as defined in §301, plus any applicable stipend, prorated by two semesters, three quarters, or equivalent units in each ~~program-academic year (non-academic program)(TOPS)~~. The stipend will be paid for each qualified summer session, semester, quarter, term or equivalent unit for which tuition is paid. Attending a qualified summer session for which tuition is paid will count toward the eight semester limit for TOPS.

E.6. – E.11.c ...

F. Beginning with the 2000-2001 academic year ~~(college)(TOPS) or program year (non-academic program)~~ and continuing for the remainder of their program eligibility, students who meet each of the following requirements shall be awarded a stipend in the amount of \$200 per qualified summer session, semester, quarter, term, or equivalent unit for which tuition is paid which shall be in addition to the amount determined to equal the tuition charged by the public college or university attended or, if applicable, the amount provided for attendance at an eligible nonpublic college or university:

1. prior to June 18, 1999, the student was determined by the administering agency to be eligible for a Performance Award, but who chose either by submission of a completed Award Confirmation Form or by not sending in a completed Award Confirmation Form to receive an Opportunity Award and was awarded an opportunity award; and

2. the student, once enrolled at an eligible institution, has continuously met all requirements to maintain continued state payment for a Performance Award.

G. Beginning with the 2000-2001 academic year (~~college~~)(TOPS) and continuing for the remainder of their program eligibility, students who meet each of the following requirements shall be awarded a stipend in the amount of \$400 per qualified summer session, semester, quarter, term, or equivalent unit for which tuition is paid which shall be in addition to the amount determined to equal the tuition charged by the public college or university attended or, if applicable, the amount provided for attendance at an eligible nonpublic college or university:

G.1. – G.2. ...

AUTHORITY NOTE: Promulgated in accordance with R.S. 17:3021-3036, R.S. 17:3042.1 and R.S. 17:3048.1.

HISTORICAL NOTE: Promulgated by the Student Financial Assistance Commission, Office of Student Financial Assistance, LR 22:338 (May 1996), amended LR 23:1645-1648 (December 1997), repromulgated LR 24:635 (April 1998), amended LR 24:1901 (October 1998), LR 25: 256 (February 1999), LR 26:67 (January 2000), LR 26:1262 (June 2000), LR 26:1995 (September 2000), LR 26:2000 (September 2000), repromulgated LR 27:1848 (November 2001), amended LR 28:447 (March 2002), LR 28:2331 (November 2002), LR 29:880 (June 2003), LR 29:2372 (November 2003), LR 30:1161 (June 2004), LR 31:2213 (September 2005), LR 35:228 (February 2009), LR 36:2854 (December 2010), LR 40:1002 (May 2014).

§703. Establishing Eligibility

A. To establish eligibility for a TOPS Opportunity, Performance or Honors Award, the student applicant must meet all of the following criteria:

1.a. for students graduating in academic year (high school) 2001-2002 and prior, be a United States citizen, provided however, that a student who is not a citizen of the United States but who is eligible to apply for such citizenship shall be deemed to satisfy the citizenship requirement, if within 60 days after the date the student attains the age of majority, the student applies to become a citizen of the United States and obtains such citizenship within one year after the date of the application for citizenship. Those students who are eligible for U.S. citizenship and who otherwise qualify for a TOPS Award, will continue to satisfy the citizenship requirements for a TOPS Award for one year after the date of the student's application for citizenship, at which time, if the student has not provided proof of U.S. citizenship to the Office of Student Financial Assistance, the student's TOPS Award will be suspended until such time as proof of citizenship is provided and canceled if such proof is not provided by May 1 of the following academic year (~~college~~)(TOPS). Students cancelled solely due to their failure to become a United States citizen within one year after the date of application shall be reinstated to their award if they are a United States citizen or a permanent resident as defined by the Bureau of Citizenship and Immigration Services and were eligible to apply for United States citizenship when cancelled and have met the requirements for maintaining eligibility for the award;

A.1.b. – A.1.f. ...

g. all students must apply for an award by July 1 of the academic year (high school) in which they graduate to establish their initial qualification for an award, except as provided by §503.D. For a student entitled to defer acceptance of an award under §703.A.4.b or d that student must apply by July 1 of the academic year (high school) in which the student graduates, except as provided by §503.D:

i. and, if enrolling in an academic program, must also apply by July 1 prior to the academic year (~~college~~)(TOPS) in which the student intends to first accept the award, and by July 1 of every year of eligibility thereafter, except as provided in §501.B; or

ii. and, if enrolling in a program for a vocational or technical education certificate or diploma or a non-academic undergraduate degree, must also apply by the July 1 immediately after the start of the ~~program year (non-academic program)~~ academic year (TOPS) in which the student intends to first accept the award, and by July 1 of every year of eligibility thereafter, except as provided in §501.B;

A.5.a. – H.1.c. ...

2. A returning student who fails to enroll by the deadline established in §703.A.4 or to maintain full time enrollment or to earn 24 hours during an academic year (~~college~~)(TOPS) while enrolled in an out-of-state college or university, shall not be eligible for a TOPS Award unless granted an exception in accordance with §2103.

H.3. – J.4.b.ii. ...

AUTHORITY NOTE: Promulgated in accordance with R.S. 17:3021-3025, R.S. 17:3042.1, and R.S. 17:3048.1.

HISTORICAL NOTE: Promulgated by the Student Financial Assistance Commission, Office of Student Financial Assistance, LR 22:338 (May 1996), repromulgated LR 24:636 (April 1998), amended LR 24:1902 (October 1998), LR 24:2237 (December 1998), LR 25:257 (February 1999), LR 25:655 (April 1999), LR 25:1794 (October 1999), LR 26:64, 67 (January 2000), LR 26:689 (April 2000), LR 26:1262 (June 2000), LR 26:1602 (August 2000), LR 26:1996, 1999, 2001 (September 2000), LR 26:2268 (October 2000), LR 26:2753 (December 2000), LR 27:36 (January 2001), LR 27:702 (May 2001), LR 27:1219, 1219 (August 2001), repromulgated LR 27:1850 (November 2001), amended LR 28:772 (April 2002), LR 28:2330, 2332 (November 2002), LR 29:125 (February 2003), LR 29:2372 (November 2003), LR 30:1162 (June 2004), LR 30:1471 (July 2004), LR 30:2019 (September 2004), LR 31:37 (January 2005), LR 31:2213 (September 2005), LR 31:3112 (December 2005), LR 32:2239 (December 2006), LR 33:435 (March 2007), LR 33:2357 (November 2007), LR 33:2612 (December 2007), LR 34:1389 (July 2008), LR 35:228 (February 2009), LR 36:312 (February 2010), LR 36:490 (March 2010), LR 36:2269 (October 2010), LR 36:2855 (December 2010), LR 37:2987 (October 2011), LR 38:354 (February 2012), LR 38:3158 (December 2012), LR 39:481 (March 2013), LR 39:2485 (September 2013), LR 40:54 (January 2014).

§705. Maintaining Eligibility

A.1. – A.5. ...

6. minimum academic progress:

a.i. in an academic undergraduate program at an eligible college or university, by the end of each academic

year ~~(college)~~(TOPS), earn a total of at least 24 college credit hours as determined by totaling the earned hours reported by the institution for each semester or term in the academic year ~~(college)~~(TOPS), including any hours earned during an intersession ending during the academic year. These hours shall include remedial course work required by the institution, but shall not include hours earned during qualified summer sessions, summer sessions or intersessions that do not end during the academic year or by advanced placement course credits. Unless granted an exception for cause by LASFAC, failure to earn the required number of hours will result in permanent cancellation of the recipient's eligibility; or

ii. beginning in the 2008-2009 and through the 2010-2011 academic year ~~(college)~~(TOPS), in an academic undergraduate program at an eligible college or university, by the end of each academic year ~~(college)~~(TOPS), earn a total of at least 24 college credit hours as determined by totaling the earned hours reported by the institution for each semester or quarter in the academic year ~~(college)~~(TOPS), including any hours earned during an intersession ending during the academic year or immediately following the spring term. These hours shall include remedial course work required by the institution, but shall not include hours earned during qualified summer sessions, summer sessions or intersessions that do not end during the academic year or intersessions that do not immediately follow the spring term or by advanced placement course credits. Unless granted an exception for cause by LASFAC, failure to earn the required number of hours will result in permanent cancellation of the recipient's eligibility; or

iii. beginning in the 2011-2012 academic year ~~(college)~~(TOPS), in an academic undergraduate program at an eligible college or university, by the end of each academic year ~~(college)~~(TOPS), earn a total of at least 24 college credit hours as determined by totaling the earned hours reported by the institution for each semester or quarter, intersession and summer session in the academic year ~~(college)~~(TOPS) (includes any hours earned during any intersession and/or summer session ending before the following fall semester or quarter). These hours shall include remedial course work required by the institution and hours for repeated courses, but shall not include hours by advanced placement course credits, by credit by exam, or through the College-Level Examination Program. Unless granted an exception for cause by ~~LASFAC~~the commission, failure to earn the required number of hours will result in permanent cancellation of the recipient's eligibility; or

b. in a program for a vocational or technical education certificate or diploma or a non-academic undergraduate degree at an eligible college or university, by the end of each academic year (TOPS), earn a total of at least 24 college credit hours as determined by totaling the earned hours reported by the institution for each semester or quarter, intersession and summer session in the academic year (TOPS) (includes any hours earned during any intersession and/or summer session ending before the following fall semester or quarter). These hours shall include

remedial course work required by the institution and hours for repeated courses, but shall not include hours by advanced placement course credits, by credit by exam, or through the College-Level Examination Program. Unless granted an exception for cause by LASFAC, failure to earn 24 hours during the academic year (TOPS) will result in permanent cancellation of the recipient's eligibility; or

c. in an academic graduate or professional program at an eligible college or university, by the end of each academic year ~~(college)~~(TOPS), earn at least the total college credit hours required by the college or university for full time enrollment for each semester or quarter as determined by totaling the earned hours reported by the institution for each semester or quarter, intersession and summer session in the academic year ~~(college)~~(TOPS) (includes any hours earned during any intersession and/or summer session ending before the following fall semester or quarter). These hours shall not include hours by advanced placement course credits, by credit by exam, or through the College-Level Examination Program. Unless granted an exception for cause by LASFAC, failure to earn the required number of hours will result in permanent cancellation of the recipient's eligibility; or

d. in an eligible cosmetology or proprietary school, meet the federal grant aid steady academic progress requirement at that school; and

7. maintain *steady academic progress* as defined in §301; and

8. a. Through the 2014-15 academic year (TOPS), maintain at an eligible college or university, by the end of the spring semester, quarter, or term, a TOPS cumulative college grade point average (~~GPA~~) on a 4.00 maximum scale of at least:

~~i.a.~~ a 2.30 with the completion of 24 but less than 48 credit hours, a 2.50 after the completion of 48 credit hours, for continuing receipt of an Opportunity Award, if enrolled in an academic program; or

~~ii.b.~~ a 2.50, for continuing receipt of an Opportunity Award, if enrolled in a program for a vocational or technical education certificate or diploma or a non-academic undergraduate degree; and

b. Beginning the 2015-16 academic year (TOPS), maintain at an eligible college or university, by the end of the spring semester or quarter, a TOPS cumulative college grade point average (Opportunity, Performance, Honors) on a 4.00 maximum scale of at least:

i. a 2.30 with 24 but less than 48 earned credit hours for continuing receipt of an Opportunity Award, if enrolled for the spring semester or quarter in an academic program; or

ii. a 2.50 with 24 but less than 48 earned credit hours for continuing receipt of an Opportunity Award, if enrolled for the spring semester or quarter in a program for a vocational or technical education certificate or diploma or a non-academic undergraduate degree; or

iii. a 2.50 with 48 or more earned credit hours for continuing receipt of an Opportunity Award, if enrolled for the spring semester or quarter in any program of study; and

c. a 3.00 for continuing receipt of either a Performance or Honors Award; or

d. the minimum grade necessary to maintain good standing, if enrolled in a graduate or professional program; or

e. meet the federal grant aid steady academic progress requirement at that school, if enrolled in an eligible cosmetology or proprietary school; and

~~9. through the 2003-2004 academic year (college), has not been enrolled in a program for a vocational or technical education certificate or diploma or a non academic undergraduate degree for more than two years.~~

B. 1. Students failing to meet the requirements listed in §705.A.7 or §705.A.8.a., b., d., or e.e. may have their tuition awards reinstated upon regaining “steady academic progress” (see §301) and/or attainment of the required TOPS cumulative grade point averageGPA, if the period of ineligibility did not persist for more than two years from the date of loss of eligibility.

2. If the two-year period is interrupted due to a student's active duty in the United States Armed Forces, the two-year period will be extended for a length of time equal to the student's active duty service.

3. Students who fail to meet the ~~continuation requirements of §705.A.8.c., but who meet the continuation requirements of §705.A.8.a or b.,~~ shall no longer be eligible for the stipend authorized for the Performance and Honors Awards, but shall be eligible continue to receive the award amount for the Opportunity Award if they meet the continuation requirements of §705.A.8.a., b., d. or e. ~~If the two-year period is interrupted due to a student's active duty in the United States Armed Forces, the two-year period will be extended for a length of time equal to the student's active duty service.~~

4. a. A student shall have one semester or quarter after the spring semester or quarter of 2016 for which the TOPS Award will be paid to meet the requirements of §705.A.8.b. if the student:

(1). Failed to meet the requirements listed in §705.A.8.b. solely because the calculation of the TOPS cumulative grade point average (Opportunity, Performance, Honors) at the end of the spring semester or quarter of 2016 includes both hours and grades for courses taken before the 2015-16 academic year (TOPS) in both academic and technical courses of study, and

(2). Was a high school graduate or home study completer who enrolled for the first time as a full time student in an eligible postsecondary institution before the 2015-16 academic year (TOPS); and

(3). Not suspended after the spring semester or quarter of 2014-15 academic year (TOPS).

b. The TOPS award of a student who meets the requirements of §705.B.4.a. shall not be suspended unless the student fails to meet the requirements of §705.A.8.b. by the end of the fall semester or quarter of 2016 in which case:

(1). The student's TOPS award shall be suspended effective at the end of the fall semester or quarter of 2016, and

(2). The provisions of §705.B.1 and 2 shall apply.

c. If a student does not enroll full time for the fall semester or quarter of 2016 and any subsequent consecutive semesters or quarters and is granted an exception for all of those semesters or quarters, the provisions of §705.B.4.b. shall be extended to the end of the next semester or quarter during which the student enrolls full time and for which the student's TOPS award is paid.

C. – D.3. ...

E. Natural Disaster Maintaining Eligibility Requirements

1. To continue receiving the TOPS Opportunity, Performance or Honors Awards, a displaced student must meet all of the criteria in §705.A–D above, except as follows.

a. The TOPS award of a displaced student who enrolls for the first-time as a full time student in an eligible out-of-state college or university during the 2005-2006 academic year (~~college~~)(TOPS) and subsequently enrolls at a Louisiana eligible college or university shall not be reduced due to enrollment in an eligible out-of-state institution during the 2005-2006 academic year (~~college~~)(TOPS).

b. The TOPS award of a displaced student who has been enrolled in a Louisiana eligible college or university and who subsequently enrolls as a full time student in an eligible out-of-state institution during the 2005-2006 academic year (~~college~~)(TOPS) shall not be cancelled due to such out-of-state enrollment.

c. The TOPS award of a displaced student who has been enrolled in a Louisiana eligible college or university and who subsequently enrolls as a full time student in an eligible out-of-state institution during the 2005-2006 academic year (~~college~~)(TOPS) shall not be reduced for those semesters or terms such displaced student was enrolled in an eligible out-of-state institution during the 2005-2006 academic year (~~college~~)(TOPS).

d. The period of suspension of a TOPS award for a displaced student due to the student not meeting a requirement to maintain a minimum grade point average or to make steady academic progress shall be extended on a one-for-one basis for each semester or term in which the student does not enroll on a full-time basis in an eligible college or university during the 2005-2006 academic year (~~college~~)(TOPS).

E.2. – 3. ...

F.1. A student who successfully completes ~~an~~ a baccalaureate undergraduate degree without having

exhausted his period of award eligibility shall receive an award for the remainder of his eligibility if he enrolls in a graduate or professional school at an eligible college or university no later than the fall semester immediately following the first anniversary of the student's completion of an undergraduate degree and has met the requirements for continued eligibility set forth in §705.A.6. The remaining eligibility may not be used to pursue a second undergraduate degree.

2. Beginning with the 2012-2013 academic year ~~(college)(TOPS)~~, a student who successfully completes ~~an any type of technical, vocational, or academic credential other than a baccalaureate degree associate's degree in an academic or non-academic program~~ without having exhausted his period of award eligibility shall receive an award for the remainder of his eligibility if he enrolls in a program of study leading to a baccalaureate degree, to a vocational or technical certificate or diploma, or to a non-academic degree at an eligible college or university no later than the fall semester immediately following the first anniversary of the student's completion of an associate's degree and has met the requirements for continued eligibility set forth in §705.A.6.

AUTHORITY NOTE: Promulgated in accordance with R.S. 17:3021-3036, R.S. 17:3042.1 and R.S. 17:3048.1.

HISTORICAL NOTE: Promulgated by the Student Financial Assistance Commission, Office of Student Financial Assistance, LR 22:338 (May 1996), repromulgated LR 24:637 (April 1998), amended LR 24:1904 (October 1998), LR 25:257 (February 1999), LR 25:656 (April 1999), LR 25:1091 (June 1999), LR 26:67 (January 2000), LR 26:688 (April 2000), LR 26:1996 (September 2000), LR 26:2001 (September 2000), repromulgated LR 27:1853 (November 2001), amended LR 28:447 (March 2002), LR 28:772 (April 2002), LR 28:2332 (November 2002), LR 29:2373 (November 2003), LR 30:781 (April 2004), LR 30:1163 (June 2004), LR 30:2019 (September 2004), LR 31:3115 (December 2005), LR 33:437 (March 2007), LR 34:1390 (July 2008), LR 36:491 (March 2010), LR 36:2856 (December 2010), LR 38:3159 (December 2012), LR 40:1002 (May 2014).

Chapter 8. TOPS-Tech Award

§801. General Provisions

A. – D.2. ...

3. Beginning with the 2010-2011 academic year ~~(College)(TOPS)~~, in lieu of the amount equal to tuition as provided by LAC 28:IV.701.E.1-3, students with the TOPS-Tech Award participating in the program provided by R.S. 29:36.1 for persons serving in the Louisiana National Guard shall receive the tuition exemption as provided therein, plus a sum of \$300 per semester or \$600 per program year (nonacademic program) to be applied toward the cost of books and other instructional materials.

AUTHORITY NOTE: Promulgated in accordance with R.S. 17:3021-3036, R.S. 17:3042.1 and R.S. 17:3048.1.

HISTORICAL NOTE: Promulgated by the Student Financial Assistance Commission, Office of Student Financial Assistance, LR 24:1904 (October 1998), amended LR 26:1997 (September 2000), repromulgated LR 27:1854 (November 2001), LR 36:2856 (December 2010).

§805. Maintaining Eligibility

A. To continue receiving the TOPS-Tech Award, the recipient must meet all of the following criteria:

1. have received the TOPS-Tech Award for not more than two years or the equivalent number of terms and summer sessions, provided that not attending a summer session shall not reduce the number of eligible terms; and, except as provided by §805.C, or unless reduced as required by §503.D;

A.2. – A-4. ...

5. continue to enroll and accept the TOPS Tech TECH Award as a full-time student in an *eligible college or university* defined in §301, and maintain an enrolled status throughout the ~~program—year—(non-academic program)academic year (TOPS)~~ (enrollment in a summer session is optional and is not required to meet this requirement), unless granted an exception for cause by LASFAC; and

A.6. ...

7. maintain, by the end of the spring term, a TOPS cumulative college grade point average (TOPS Tech) of at least 2.50 on a 4.00 maximum scale, provided that this requirement does not apply to a student who is enrolled in a cosmetology or proprietary school that is an eligible college or university and the student has met the federal grant aid steady academic progress requirement at that school; and

8. earn a total of at least 24 college credit hours as determined by totaling the earned hours reported by the institution for each semester or term in the ~~program—year—(non-academic program)academic year (TOPS)~~. Unless granted an exception for cause by LASFAC, failure to earn the required number of hours will result in permanent cancellation of the recipient's eligibility. provided that this requirement does not apply to a student who is enrolled in a cosmetology or proprietary school that is an eligible college or university and the student has met the federal grant aid steady academic progress requirement at that school.

B. – D.1. ...

a. The TOPS Tech Award of a displaced student who has been enrolled in a Louisiana eligible college or university and who subsequently enrolls as a full time student in an eligible out-of-state institution during the 2005-2006 ~~program—year—(non-academic program)academic year (TOPS)~~ shall not be cancelled due to such out-of-state enrollment.

b. The TOPS Tech Award of a displaced student who has been enrolled in a Louisiana eligible college or university and who subsequently enrolls as a full time student in an eligible out-of-state institution during the 2005-2006 ~~program—year—(non-academic program)academic year (TOPS)~~ shall not be reduced for those semesters or terms such displaced student was enrolled in an eligible out-of-state institution during the 2005-2006 ~~program—year—(non-academic program)academic year (TOPS)~~.

c. The period of suspension of a TOPS Tech Award for a displaced student due to the student not meeting a requirement to maintain a minimum grade point average or to make steady academic progress shall be extended on a one-for-one basis for each semester or other term in which the student does not enroll on a full-time basis in an eligible college or university during the 2005-2006 ~~program year (non-academic program)~~ academic year (TOPS).

d. A TOPS Tech Award may be used by a displaced student during the 2005-2006 academic year ~~(college)(TOPS)~~ to enroll on a full-time basis in an academic program at a Louisiana eligible college or university to take courses that contribute to the pursuit of a skill or occupation. In such case, the award amount shall be at the same as the opportunity award for that institution.

D.2. – E. ...

AUTHORITY NOTE: Promulgated in accordance with R.S. 17:3021-3036, R.S. 17:3042.1 and R.S. 17:3048.1.

HISTORICAL NOTE: Promulgated by the Student Financial Assistance Commission, Office of Student Financial Assistance, LR 24:1905 (October 1998) amended LR 25:1091 (June 1999), LR 26:68 (January 2000), LR 26:689 (April 2000), LR 26:1997, 2002 (September 2000), repromulgated LR 27:1856 (November 2001), amended LR 28:774 (April 2002), LR 28:2332 (November 2002), LR 29:880 (June 2003), LR 29:2373 (November 2003), LR 30:781 (April 2004), LR 30:1165 (June 2004), LR 30:2019 (September 2004), LR 31:3115 (December 2005), LR 33:438 (March 2007), LR 35:1489 (August 2009), LR 38:3160 (December 2012), LR 40:1002 (May 2014).

Chapter 19. Eligibility and Responsibilities of Post-Secondary Institutions

§1903. Responsibilities of Post-Secondary Institutions

A.1. – 2.h. ...

3. Beginning with the 2013-2014 academic year ~~(college)(TOPS)~~, an institution shall also report:

- a. a student's completion of program of study;
- b. whether the program of study was academic or technical;
- c. type of credential (degree, certificate, diploma, baccalaureate);
- d. semester of completion.

B. – 9. ...

10.a. upon the school's certification that a student who is eligible for a TOPS-Tech Early Start Award is enrolled in an Industry Based Occupational or Vocational Education Credential Program in a top demand occupation institutions shall bill for and LASFAC will pay the institution for each such recipient according to the following schedule.

Credit Hours	Payment
1	\$50
2	\$100
3	\$150
4	\$200
5	\$250
6	\$300

b. The maximum that may be billed is \$300 per semester and \$600 per academic year ~~(college)(TOPS)~~.

c. Institutions may not bill for summer semesters or sessions.

B.11.a. – G.2. ...

AUTHORITY NOTE: Promulgated in accordance with R.S. 17:3021-3036, R.S. 17:3042.1, 17:3041.10-3041.15, 17:3041.21-3041.26, R.S. 17:3048.1, and R.S. 17:3050.1-3050.4.

HISTORICAL NOTE: Promulgated by the Student Financial Assistance Commission, Office of Student Financial Assistance, LR 22:338 (May 1996), repromulgated LR 24:645 (April 1998), amended LR 24:1914 (October 1998), LR 25:1459 (August 1999), LR 26:1998 and 2002 (September 2000), repromulgated LR 27:1864 (November 2001), amended LR 28:448 (March 2002), LR 28:775 (April 2002), LR 28:1760 (August 2002), LR 28:2333 (November 2002), LR 30:784 (April 2004), LR 30:1166 (June 2004), LR 31:40 (January 2005), LR 31:3111, 3114 (December 2005), LR 33:1340 (July 2007), LR 35:1233 (July 2009), LR 35:1490 (August 2009), LR 35:1491 (August 2009), LR 36:2857 (December 2010), LR 40:282 (February 2014), LR 40:1003 (May 2014).

Chapter 21. Miscellaneous Provisions and Exceptions

§2103. Circumstances Warranting Exception to the Initial and Continuous Enrollment Requirements

A. – C.3.b. ...

D. Procedure for Requesting Exceptions to the Initial and Continuous Enrollment Requirement

1. The student should complete and submit an application for an exception, with documentary evidence, to the office as soon as possible after the occurrence of the event or circumstance that supports the request. Through the 2000-2001 academic year ~~(TOPS)~~, the student must submit application for an exception no later than May 30 of the academic year the student requests reinstatement. Commencing with the 2001-2002 academic year ~~(TOPS)~~, the student must submit the application for exception no later than six months after the date of the notice of cancellation, except that a returning student must submit the application for exception no later than six months after the date of the notice of ineligibility due to failure to meet the continuing eligibility requirements of §705. The deadline for filing the exception shall be prominently displayed on the notice of cancellation. If the applicant for an exception is a dependent student, a parent or court ordered custodian of the dependent student may submit the application for exception on behalf of the applicant.

D.2. – G.3. ...

4.a. For the 2005-2006 academic year ~~(college)(TOPS)~~, displaced students are not required to enroll as full time students, to maintain continuous enrollment or to earn at least 24 hours during the 2005-2006 academic year ~~(college)(TOPS)~~.

b. Displaced students may enroll on a part-time basis in an eligible college or university without losing TOPS eligibility. Upon request by the student, the eligible college or university may bill for these part-time students.

c. The terms of eligibility for a displaced student whose part-time enrollment is paid by TOPS will be reduced by one full semester (term) for each semester (term) (part or full-time) paid.

d. Institutions must document the displaced student's request for part-time payment of the award.

e. If a displaced student enrolls in an eligible college or university during the 2005-2006 academic year ~~(college)(TOPS)~~ and receives grades, those grades will be included in calculating the student's cumulative grade point average.

5.a. For the 2005-2006 academic year ~~(college)(TOPS)~~, students who are not displaced students, but due to the effects of a natural disaster were unable to enroll for the first time as full time students by the deadline or to enroll as full time students or to maintain continuous enrollment or to earn at least 24 hours during the academic year ~~(college)(TOPS)~~, may submit a request for an exception in accordance with §2103.D, based on one of the circumstances listed in §2103.E, or in accordance with the following procedures for the circumstances described in this Subsection.

E.5.a.i.– E.5.a.ii. ...

b. Natural Disaster Exception (for other than displaced students)

i. Definition. The effects of a natural disaster prevented the student/recipient from enrolling as a full time student or continuing enrollment or earning 24 hours during the 2005-2006 academic year ~~(college)(TOPS)~~.

E.5.b.ii. - E.5.b.iii. ...

AUTHORITY NOTE: Promulgated in accordance with R.S. 17:3021-3025, R.S. 17:3042.1, R.S. 17:3048.1 and R.S. 17:3050.1-3050.4.

HISTORICAL NOTE: Promulgated by the Student Financial Assistance Commission, Office of Student Financial Assistance, LR 22:338 (May 1996), amended LR 23:1648 (December 1997), repromulgated LR 24:647 (April 1998), amended LR 24:1916 (October 1998), LR 26:1015 (May 2000), LR 26:2002 (September 2000), LR 27:36 (January 2001), repromulgated LR 27:1866 (November 2001), amended LR 27:1875 (November 2001), LR 28:46 (January 2002), LR 28:449 (March 2002), LR 28:775 (April 2002), LR 28:2330 and 2333 (November 2002), LR 29:126 (February 2003), LR 29:2373 (November 2003), LR 29:2373 (November 2003), LR 30:785 (April 2004), LR 30:1167 (June 2004), LR 31:1060 (May 2005), LR 33:440 (March 2007), LR 35:1233 (July 2009), LR 38:3160 (December 2012).

Family Impact Statement: The proposed rule has no known impact on family formation, stability, or autonomy, as described in LSA-R.S. 49:972.

Poverty Impact Statement: The proposed rulemaking will have no impact on poverty as described in LSA-R.S. 49:973.

Business Impact Statement: The proposed rule will have no adverse impact on small businesses as described in LSA-R.S. 49:965.2 *et seq.*

Provider Impact Statement: The proposed rule will have no adverse impact on providers of services for individuals with developmental disabilities as described in HCR 170 of 2014.

Interested persons may submit written comments on the proposed changes (SG15158NI) until 4:30 p.m., January 9, 2015, by email to LOSFA.Comments@la.gov or by mail to Sujuan Williams Boutté, Ed. D., Executive Director, Office of Student Financial Assistance, P. O. Box 91202, Baton Rouge, LA 70821-9202.

George Badge Eldredge
General Counsel